
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE,
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX

Telephone:  01730 266551
Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Thursday, 24 August 2017

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership:      Councillor I Thomas (Chairman)

Councillors R Ayer (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, K Budden, K Carter, 
F Cowper, N Drew, D Evans, A Glass, M Johnson, A Joy, C Louisson, 
R Mocatta, D Orme, D Phillips, S Pond, S Schillemore and A Williams

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS)

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: Wednesday, 16 August 2017

Contact Officer: James Harris 01730 234098
Email:  james.harris@easthants.gov.uk

Working in Partnership



ii

Page Nos
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Confirmation of Minutes  

Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes.

Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2017, circulated under 
separate cover.

3. Chairman's Announcements  

4. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter.

Matters for Decision

5. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  

6. Future Items  9 - 10

7. Report of the Head of Planning  

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items

Section I

7.(i)  49352/007/FUL/SAW - Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, 
Main Road, Bentley, Farnham  
C Y Homes Ltd

Eight dwellings, provision of footpath link, car parking and associated 
landscaping.

11 - 40



iii

7.(ii)  24314/015/FUL/NP - 2 Somerset Villas, Mill Chase Road, Bordon, 
GU35 0EL  
Mr Daly

Two detached two storey houses one with garage and the other 
with parking space and new vehicular access to Primula Road 
(amended site layout plan received 14/8/2017)

41 - 56

7.(iii)  20283/011/FUL/RV - Maddocks Hill House, Maddocks Hill, 
Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0JA  
Mr Louisson

All weather riding arena.

57 - 66

7.(iv)  27580/006/TPO/SG - Little Benifold, Headley Hill Road, Headley, 
Bordon, GU35 8DU  
Mrs Williams

2 Sycamore on the southern edge of the woodland, north of the 
house, as shown on submitted plan and photos. - Fell

67 - 70

Section II

There are no Section II items within this agenda.

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items

Section I

There are no Section I items within this agenda.

Section II

8.(i)  35364/002/FUL/JM - Land to the north of, Ramshill, Petersfield, 
GU31 4AT  
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited

276 dwellings with associated works including garages, parking, 
access and demolition of 44 & 46 Ramshill (as amplified by Transport 
Assessment  received 05/02/2002, Noise and Vibration Reports 
received  24/04/2002 & 2/5/02,  Plant List, Ecological Appraisal, 
Planting Plan received 01/05/2002, Landscape Management Plan 
received 26/04/2002 as amended by plans received 30/04/2002, 
16/05/2002 and 19/12/2002)

71 - 76



iv



v

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds.

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/




PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority.

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can 
determine planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area 
of the district on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South 
Downs National Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP. 

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT

The report is divided into two main parts; 

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.  

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which 
the Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National 
Park Authority.  

Each part of the report is split into two sections:  

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations 

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, 
details of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items.

Section 2 – Other matters 

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse. No formal presentation will 
be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be no public participation.”

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are 



understood to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in 
advance of the Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports 
may have been prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or 
neighbour comment.  Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially 
amended between preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where 
additional information has been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper 
will be circulated at the meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to 
members of the public.

3. PLANNING POLICY

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material 
policies or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application 
should be determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are 
other material considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and 
other material considerations will also be taken into account.  One such 
consideration will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The 
relevant development plans are the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East 
Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 2014 and the saved policies in the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the  report on each item.  

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states:  “Planning 
law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”  

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development 
that departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it 
should proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-
date in terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also 
fairly and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters 
of what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in 
land-use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 
landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.  



4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are:
 loss of property value  loss of view
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants
 the impact of construction work  property maintenance issues
 need for development (save in 

certain defined circumstances)
 the identity or personal characteristics of 

the applicant
 competition between firms,  or matters that are dealt with by other 

legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not a 
reason to refuse planning permission or 
defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation.

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  
Nevertheless, where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to 
relevant considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.  

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because 
there are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its 
merits in the light of all the material considerations. 

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a 
clear land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way 
that is clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special 
and precise justification. 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations 
should meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be: 
 necessary;
 relevant to planning;
 directly related to the proposed development;
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and
 reasonable in all other respects.

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that 



planning permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for 
unacceptable development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements 
offered by a developer, which are not necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration 
to be taken into account when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it 
is for the Council to decide what weight should be attached to a particular material 
consideration. 

6. PLANNING APPEALS 
Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it:

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time.

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance.

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show 
clearly, why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be

 complete, 
 precise, 
 specific
 relevant to the application, and
 supported by substantiated evidence. 

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice 

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence.

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal 
but rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision.

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed.

The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council:
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF,
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach. 
An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 54 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site,



(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law,
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable,

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the 
planning authority where circumstances have not materially changed,

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances,

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage,

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions,

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 204 of the NPPF, or

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters.

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an 
application to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. 
In general, this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State 
will not interfere with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is 
necessary to do so.  The Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of 
development proposals that directs local authorities to consult with the Secretary of 
State before granting planning permission.

8. PROPRIETY

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in 
planning matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning 
applications they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can 
include views expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support 
for a proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, 
unless it is founded upon valid planning reasons. 

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS 

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the 
public interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and 
private interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not 
whether owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial 
or other loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would 



unacceptably affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought 
to be protected in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of 
private property are therefore not material planning consideration.

10.OTHER LEGISLATION 

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular: 

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities. 

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for 
providing a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by 
providing a lower standard of service. 

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain 
and promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic 
rights of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in 
order to protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific 
Articles of the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and 
public hearing), Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and 
correspondence), Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 (Right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of 
property).  All planning applications are assessed to make sure that the 
subsequent determination of the development proposal is compatible with the 
Act.  If there is a potential conflict, this will be highlighted in the report on the 
relevant item.

11.PUBLIC SPEAKING

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak 
must have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 
hours before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at 
the Committee meeting itself.

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will 
be allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the 
Committee meeting.  

12. INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The 

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


files and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect.

13.FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the 
event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s 
decision.  Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications 
may result in the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning 
appeal.  Officers will aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide 
appropriate advice in such circumstances.

Simon Jenkins
Head of Planning 

Background Papers:

 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case)
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements
 any other document specifically referred to in the report.





PLANNING COMMITTEE

PS.488/2017
24 August 2017

POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT

The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits 
under this item.

Reference Description and Address
1 25380/018 Outline application for redevelopment of builders 

merchants depot with ten dwellings comprising two 2 
bedroom bungalows, one 2 bedroom house, four 3 
bedroom houses and three 4 bedroom houses together 
with garages and parking spaces and new road (access, 
layout and scale to be considered) 

Coomers (Oakhanger) Ltd, Oakhanger Road, 
Oakhanger, Bordon, GU35 9JU

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

2 28400/004 Detached dwelling

Coopers Bridge, Tunbridge Lane, Bramshott, Liphook, 
GU30 7RF

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.



3 56285/001 Development providing 11 two bed houses, retention of 
existing barn and reuse as two bed house and secure 
cycle store plus associated carparking and alterations to 
public car park (Amended description 24 July 2017)

Land South of, 6-12 London Road, Liphook

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

4 22247/010 Change of use of the land to the west of Thornhill House 
to create a Petting Farm; to include the alteration of the 
existing outbuilding to provide stalls for animals, storage 
and an indoor petting area, plus parking within Thornhill 
House curtilage and associated welfare facilities

Land to the West of Thornhill House, Hollywater Road, 
Bordon

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

5 SDNP/17/03736/FUL 1.5 storey extension to existing 32 bed care home to 
provide a net increase in bedrooms by 24, additional day 
space and dining room; provision of staff and visitor car 
parking; construction of new bin store

Forest Brow Residential Home, 63 Forest Road, Liss, 
GU33 7BL

This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too 
early to make any decision as to how this application will 
be determined.

6 SDNP/17/03513/OUT The construction of a C2 assisted living community for 
older people consisting of apartments, cottages and a 
community hub

Land East of Harrier Way, Petersfield, GU31 4EZ

The South Downs National Park Authority has directed 
that this application will be dealt with by that Authority.  It 
has been included in this section for information only.





PART 1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Applications to be determined by the
Council as the Local Planning Authority

PS.488/2017
24 August 2017

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS 

  
Item No.: 01
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Eight dwellings, provision of footpath link, car parking and 
associated landscaping.

LOCATION: Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, Main Road, Bentley, Farnham
REFERENCE 49352/007 PARISH: Bentley
APPLICANT:  C Y Homes Ltd
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY :

06 July 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 01 August 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr K Carter
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION



This application has been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of the 
Local Ward Member on the grounds that; the application is considered to represent a 
deviation from the Local Plan, it would result in the loss of employment land, with 
housing development contrary to the Bentley Neighbourhood Plan.

Site and Development

The site comprises an undeveloped area of grassland extending to 0.277 ha.  The site is 
rectangular in shape and bounded by 2m fencing and 3m hedging on north and west 
boundaries, wooden picket fencing (1m) with intermittent trees on the southern boundary and 
2m high wire mesh boundary treatment on the eastern boundary to the industrial estate.  A 
small portion of the site is used with planning permission for overspill parking for units 1, 5 
and 6 of the neighbouring industrial estate.  Three lighting columns are located along the 
eastern boundary of the site to provide additional lighting for the industrial estate.

To the north of the site are residential properties, comprising a three storey terrace and two 
storey detached properties, which front onto Main Road that runs through the village of 
Bentley. Generally properties in the local area are two storey detached, semi-detached and 
terraced dwellings.  A hard standing area is located north of the site, which is used as a car 
park associated with the pub on the opposite side of the road.  To the east of the site is 
Bentley Industrial Centre which consists of 9 industrial units in B1/B8 use.  There are a 
number of commercial uses on the main road at this point including a local newsagent and 
pub.  

The site is located within the Bentley Neighbourhood Plan area and is within the Settlement 
Policy Boundary.

Development

The application seeks full planning permission for the development of 8 dwellings comprising 
2 semi-detached and 2 short terraces of 3 two storey houses which would provide: 1 x 4 
bedroom dwellings, 5 x 3 bed dwellings and 2 x 2 bed dwellings.  The dwellings are shown to 
be of a traditional design with pitched roofs of varying forms, including hip and gable end 
designs.  Each dwelling would have a private rear amenity area and a small landscaped front 
garden area.  A communal bin collection point and cycle parking are shown to be located 
between plots 3 and 6.

Vehicular access to the site is gained through the industrial estate to the east as an extension 
of the estate road through the eastern boundary of the site.  A total of 19 parking spaces are 
shown to be provided, some of which are located within or adjacent to the curtilages of the 
properties to which they relate, the remainder being located within communal parking areas, 
including a row of 5 parking “barns” adjacent to the industrial unit to the east.  



A separate pedestrian access is shown from Main Road, which runs through the car park of 
the Star Inn adjacent to the western side of 1 Poplar Cottages, Main Street.  Changes to the 
positions of the fire doors and air conditioning units on the industrial units are proposed, to 
provide additional space for the alterations to the car park.

Relevant Planning History

49352 Three blocks of light industrial units one with 
offices above.

Permitted - 12/04/2006

49352/002 Retention of three car parking spaces. Permitted - 28/03/2013
49352/003 Four dwellings   Withdrawn - 09/05/2013
49352/004 Erection of 8 dwellings following withdrawal of 

planning application 49352/003.
Refused - 27/08/201
 Loss of employment land.
 Poor design that did not 

enhance or protect the 
Conservation Area.

 Insufficient information relating 
to protected species.

 Impact on road safety.
 Light pollution to future 

occupiers.
 Insufficient information relating 

to Code for Sustainable 
Homes.

Appeal Dismissed – 9.3.2016
49352/005 Eight dwellings following refusal of planning 

application 49352/004.
Refused – 27/08/2015
 Poor design by virtue of 

access through industrial 
estate.

 Lack of affordable housing 
provision.

Appeal Dismissed – 30.6.2016
49352/006 Eight dwellings, provision of footpath link, car 

parking and associated landscaping (as 
amended by plans received 6 / 7 September 
2016)

Refused – 27.9.16
Appeal Dismissed – 7.4.2017

1-4 Poplar Cottages, Main Road
49330/001 - Terrace of four dwellings with associated parking – Permitted 9/6/2006



Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP10 - Spatial strategy for housing
CP11 - Housing tenure, type and mix
CP13 - Affordable housing on residential development sites
CP20 - Landscape
CP21 - Biodiversity
CP24 - Sustainable construction
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP30 - Historic Environment
CP31 - Transport
CP32 - Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

H3 - Residential Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries
P7 - Contaminated Land

Bentley Neighbourhood Plan (2016)

Policy 1 – Spatial Plan
Policy 2 – Design and Development Principles
Policy 6 – Sustainable Drainage

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The NPPF sets out three roles (economic, social and environmental) that should be 
performed by the planning system. The Framework states that pursuing sustainable 
development involves seeking positive improvements in the quality of the built, natural and 
historic environment, as well as in peoples quality of life, including (but not limited to):

• making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages
• moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature
• replacing poor design with better design
• improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure and
• widening the choice of high quality homes

Section 1: Building a strong, competitive economy.
Section 6: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
Section 7: Requiring good design



Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 12: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

EHDC Arboricultural Officer – No objection.

EHDC Conservation Officer – No objection, subject to the imposition of conditions.

EHDC Drainage Consultant – No objection in principle, subject to the imposition of conditions 
to secure satisfactory drainage systems for foul and surface water.

EHDC Environmental Health (Pollution) – No objection, subject to the imposition of a 
condition requiring noise mitigation from adjacent industrial estate.

EHDC Environmental Health (Contamination) – No objection subject to the imposition of 
contaminated land conditions.

EHDC Housing Officer - Following the revisions to the NPPG, May 2016 (para. 31), affordable 
housing contributions should no longer be sought on sites of ten dwellings or less and with a 
total gross floorspace of no more than 1000sqm. This application falls below both these 
requirements and so the affordable housing obligation is not triggered in this instance.

EHDC Landscape Officer – No landscape objection.  A landscape condition is requested.

EHDC Refuse and Recycling – Comment that the access is not a public highway, thus the 
developer would need to provide confirmation allowing access by refuse vehicles and provide 
appropriate indemnity. 

Hampshire and IOW Wildlife Trust – No comments received.

HCC Archaeology – Comments that archaeology does not represent an overriding concern, 
but request a condition requiring a programme of archaeological assessment.

HCC Ecology – No objection, subject to a condition to secure mitigation measures for Great 
Crested Newts.

HCC Highways – No objection.  Conditions relating to access construction and parking 
provision are requested.

Thames Water – No comments received.

Bentley Parish Council – Objects to planning application 49352/007.  This application remains 
largely unchanged from previous applications for the same site and many of the defects in 
those applications therefore remain. Specific objections are as follows: 



1. The Bentley Neighbourhood Plan has been made and is adopted as part of the 
Development Plan for East Hampshire.  Under the Neighbourhood Plan this site is not 
proposed for residential development.

2. The Local Plan designates this site as employment land. It would therefore require a 
change of use to become residential.

3. The proposed building density, with eight dwellings on the 0.27ha site, is too high to be 
consistent with building densities in Bentley.

4. The proposed close style design, rather than linear, is contrary to Policy 2 of the Bentley 
Neighbourhood Plan.

5. Residents in Poplar Cottages will be overlooked in their homes and private gardens.
6. Access through the industrial centre is unsuitable and lacks residential character.
7. The access through the industrial centre is unsafe for a residential site.  Industrial 

vehicles, such as vans, flat bed, articulated lorries and fork lift trucks are constantly 
manoeuvring in the access road of the industrial centre, additional traffic to the proposed 
site will cause confusion and accidents. 

8. Additional traffic to the site will cause further congestion at the junction of the industrial 
centre and the Main Road.

9. The eastbound traffic to join the A31 through the village is also set to increase with the 
residential development in Bordon. This junction will become more congested and 
dangerous for drivers and pedestrians visiting the local shops and pub, especially during 
early morning traffic. 

10. Under the proposal Plot 8 would be immediately adjacent to Unit 9 on the industrial 
centre, the TVR maintenance garage, where sports cars are frequently being revved. 
We imagine that the noise for residents of Plot 8, and in fact for the entire site, would not 
be tolerable.

11. The proposed plans for alterations to The Star public house car park are unsuitable: To 
maintain the 6m spacing between opposing parking bays, the bays are to be reduced to 
4.8m. This is the same length as an average family saloon, which means such a car 
would have to touch either the industrial units or fence to the pedestrian path to fit the 
spaces.

12. Whilst 4.8m bays may be suitable for urban car parks, in this rural setting, where often 
larger vehicles occupy the car park, this bay length is not adequate. These larger 
vehicles will exceed the bays and, in turn, this will leave less room for manoeuvring to 
enter or exit spaces, as well as possibly making other spaces in the car park 
inaccessible. All this will discourage parking in the car park and increase on street 
parking in the centre of the village.

13. Although it is proposed that an industrial unit fire door would be moved away from the 
proposed car park, the other fire door access into the car park is not adequately 
protected. The provision for fire door access also reduces the capacity of the car park.

14. The proposed pedestrian access is often likely to be ignored by residents and visitors, 
pedestrians preferring to walk through the industrial centre, especially children: The 
route from the proposed site to the recreation ground and school is shorter through the 
industrial centre.

15. It is unclear from plans provided whether the pedestrian path width is 1.9 or 2m. This 
needs to be clarified since it could further affect the car park dimensions.



We object to the proposed removal of trees from the centre of the village to accommodate the 
displacement of the car park. This will damage the rural nature of the area.

Representations

The letters of representation which have been received to the application, object to the 
proposal on the following grounds as summarised below:

a) Site not required for residential development in the Neighbourhood Plan, is not in 
accordance with the policies of the Plan and numerous properties already being built;

b) Access passing through an industrial estate is alien to residential thoroughfare and non 
inclusive;

c) Brownfield sites should be used first;
d) The alterations to the Star Inn car park are impractical;
e) Tandem parking arrangements in the development;
f) Insufficient access by service vehicles;
g) Loss of privacy and light to neighbouring properties (Poplar Cottages) as well as noise 

disturbance;
h) Form of development not in keeping with Policy 2 of BNP;
i) Density is too high;
j) Potential surface water flooding and drainage issues;
k) Adverse impact on ecology and protected species;
l) Potential disturbance to future occupants from the industrial estate;
m) Adverse impact on highway safety and increased traffic generation;
n) Potential for blocking fire access door;
o) Inconsistency in width of footpath shown in the plans [Officer note: this has been 

corrected];
p) Pedestrians may still walk through the industrial estate;
q) Lack of parking at the railway station;
r) Access and parking arrangements are not satisfactory;
s) No promotion of sustainable transport measures; and 
t) Lack of facilities / infrastructure in the village.

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Siting, design and visual impact
3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
4. Access and parking arrangements
5. Impact on heritage assets
6. Affordable housing and planning obligations
7. Other issues



Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  This requirement is reinforced by paragraph 2 of 
the NPPF.  For this area the development plan comprises the East Hampshire District Local 
Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014), the saved policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Second Review (2006) and the Bentley Neighbourhood Plan.  Since these are adopted 
documents, they carry full weight in the decision making process.

The Bentley Neighbourhood Plan defines the Settlement Policy Boundary in this location and 
identifies the application site as falling within the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) for 
Bentley.  Policy 1 of the BNP states that; “Development proposals within the BSB will be 
permitted provided it complies with the provisions relevant policies”.  Policy CP2 (Spatial 
Strategy) of the JCS directs new development growth, and also seeks to make the best use of 
previously developed land and buildings within existing built up areas.  Policies CP1 of the 
Joint Core Strategy 2014 and saved policy H3 of the Second Local Plan Review (2006) permit 
sustainable development within the settlement policy boundary.

The issue of loss of employment land has previously been a matter for consideration in the 
determination of previous applications on the site.  The site was originally allocated for 
industrial and business use both within the East Hants District Local Plan: Second Review 
(2006) and the Draft Bentley Neighbourhood Plan, with the intention that the land would be 
used to extend the adjacent Bentley Industrial Centre.  However, the Examiner’s Report on 
the Neighbourhood Plan recommends that:

“The neighbourhood plan retains the local plan allocation; this is not a strategic 
allocation. However, since the former was prepared an objection has been made to the 
allocation on the basis that it is not viable. The District Council commissioned 
independent consultants who corroborate that conclusion. At the hearing the Parish had 
no evidence to counter the conclusion, though pointed out, quite reasonably, that “once 
the site has gone, its gone”.

The employment site actually came out top of the list in the Parish’s evaluation of the 
SHLAA sites, as it had been identified as a potential housing site. And there is a current 
application for housing, which includes an element of affordable housing.

The conclusion I have reached is that the employment allocation is not viable and 
cannot be confirmed, as it does not meet the Basic Conditions. I therefore recommend 
that Policy 7 be deleted and removed from the Policies Inset map.”

Thus the site has been deleted as an employment land allocation within the Neighbourhood 
Plan, but retained within the Settlement Policy Boundary.  The Neighbourhood Plan, as the 
most recently adopted plan, supersedes the original allocation in the EHDLP: Second Review.  



The site is therefore not identified as employment land.

It is noted that paragraph 4.10 of the Neighbourhood Plan states; “The local community 
wished to safeguard an employment site within the village in line with the EHDC Local Plan 
Second Review 2006. However, the site is currently subject to a Planning Appeal. Although 
this BPNP does not safeguard the site, if it remains in employment use a future review of the 
BPNP will look to include a safeguarding policy.”

Government policy at paragraph 22 of the NPPF advises that:

“Planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that 
purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no reasonable 
prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 
alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits having regard to 
market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 
communities.”

To conclude, the site constitutes an unallocated greenfield site within the Settlement Policy 
Boundary of Bentley.  In light of the Examiner’s recommendations and lack of a safeguarding 
policy in the Neighbourhood Plan, minimal weight can be given to the safeguarding of land for 
employment uses.  The principle of residential development on this site is therefore in 
accordance with Policies CP1, CP2 and CP10 of the JCS, saved policy H3 of the Local Plan: 
Second Review and Policy 1 of the Bentley Neighbourhood Plan, subject to detailed 
consideration of the proposal.

2. Siting, design and visual impact

Policy CP29 (Design) requires the District’s built environment to be of an exemplary standard 
of design and architecture that respects the character, context and identity of the area.  

The nature of proposed development is backland and although development in the locality is 
mainly linear, fronting directly onto Main Road, there are cases of backland development 
nearby that can be viewed from the road through gaps between buildings, such as views 
through the Stables to Bonners Field.  

The previous Appeal Inspectors have reached different conclusions as to the impact of the 
development on the character and appearance of the area.  In the first decision (49352/004) 
the Inspector concluded that the layout would be inwardly looking giving an impression of 
departing from the generally linear form of development and cause problems with legibility.  
The second Inspector (49352/006) concluded that the revised development would have a 
predominantly linear form, which with the exception of a single flank elevation, which would 
with suitable landscaping provide a soft edge to the neighbouring countryside.   The final 
Inspector did not specifically consider design, other than the issue of sustainable and 
inclusive design discussed latter, although commented that the development would provide 
good design and concluded that the setting of the Conservation Area would not be harmed.



To address the comments of the second Inspector, windows have been added to the flank 
elevation of Plot 3, so when viewed from Main Street across the gap between 4 Poplar 
Cottages and the Police House, the design provides a more active frontage to views from 
Main Street. This is considered to be acceptable.

The detailed design of the units would have a traditional appearance with the use of gable 
projections, steps in the footprint, and use of differing materials to break up the massing of the 
buildings.  The two storey height of the dwellings is considered appropriate to their context 
and other neighbouring development.  The extent of hard standing within the development is 
broken up though the use of front garden areas and the provision of a green space between 
Plots 3-5 and Plot 6.  The rear garden areas of Plots 3 – 8 would back directly onto open 
fields, thus sensitive landscaping and boundary treatment would be need to avoid a harsh 
edge to the settlement.  Hard boundary treatments, like close boarded fencing, would need to 
be avoided to soften views from Rectory Lane and potentially wider views from Station Road.  
This would need to be undertaken to achieve the objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan which 
states that “Each development pocket will include a landscape setting that creates an 
appropriate and attractive rural edge to the village.” and that “The existing rural character of 
the edge of the settlement is to be protected and enhanced. "

Rear garden depths of plots 1 to 5 are shown to be 12 metres and plots 6 to 8 slightly less 
ranging between 10 to 12.5 metres.  These garden depths are considered acceptable and 
would allow sufficient outdoor amenity space for future occupants.

Plot 8 would be sited 6 metres from the side of Unit 9 in the industrial park, which is used for 
garage services and is considered acceptable in terms of the overbearing impacts. 

A key issue in the consideration of the previous scheme was the relationship between the 
development and the neighbouring industrial estate in terms of design and living conditions 
for future occupiers.  Officer consider that the juxtaposition of the development and the 
neighbouring industrial estate is poor in that future residents would need to access the 
development through the industrial estate which has no footpaths, contrary to the aims of an 
inclusive design that allows easy access for all is an essential requirement for new 
development.   As such this is considered to be poor urban design contrary to advice in 
paragraphs 32, 57 and 61 of the NPPF and criteria (d) and (i) of Policy CP29 of the JCS.

Previous Appeal Inspectors have also highlighted that the means of access through the 
industrial estate which lacks proper footways or any vestiges of residential character would be 
intimidating, particularly for pedestrians, such that the development fails to provide high 
standards of quality and inclusivity.  On this issue the latest appeal Inspector concluded that:

“The submitted drawings include a 2 metre wide footpath between the main part of 
the site and Main Road. From the previous appeal decision for a similar development 
on this site I note that the Highway Authority would recommend a clear 2 metre wide 
footpath but would accept a width of 1.5 metres as a minimum.



To my mind, the location and width of the footpath would provide a convenient and 
suitable pedestrian route to Main Road and would minimise pedestrian flow through 
the industrial estate which with its lack of footway would be a highly undesirable 
proposition.

In relation to the legibility of the vehicular access through the industrial estate, these 
matters were considered in the previous appeal decision. Whilst accessing a 
residential development through an industrial site is not ideal, that does not 
necessarily make it unacceptable. Taking the previous decision into account, having 
the vehicular route for this development through this small industrial estate does not 
give rise to such harm which would warrant the withholding of planning permission.

For the above reasons the development would provide a suitable pedestrian access 
to Main Road and would represent a sustainable and inclusive design for all its users. 
It would therefore accord with Policy CP29 of the JCS which amongst other matters 
seeks to provide good design, provide safe and convenient pedestrian links to 
integrate with the existing pedestrian network and to improve access for people with 
impaired mobility.”

The reason why this appeal was dismissed relates to the impact of provision of the footway 
through the adjacent pub car park and the consequential impact to highway safety and fire 
access to the adjacent industrial units.  This matter is discussed in the highways section 
below.  The above appeal decision is, therefore, quite clear in that should a satisfactory 
pedestrian access to Main Road be provided, then the proposal would represent a 
sustainable and inclusive design for all users.  

The scheme shows a 1.9 metre footway linking the development to Main Road, with 
associated revisions to the car park and industrial units.  Therefore, Officers reluctantly advise 
that this matter has been resolved to the satisfaction of the Appeal Inspector, thus is unable to 
be pursued further.

There are three unshielded lighting columns along the boundary with the industrial estate, 
which could give rise to light spill and thus impact on the amenity for future occupiers.  The 
floodlights are within the red line application site area, thus it could be conditioned to ensure 
that the floodlights are shielded and angled away from the relevant gardens.  

The Council’s Landscape Officer has no objection to the development.  A landscape condition 
is requested requiring tree and shrub planting around the car parking and open space areas.

For these reasons, giving weight to the comments of the previous appeal inspector, the 
development is considered to be of an acceptable design and in accordance with Policy CP29 
of the Joint Core Strategy (2014) and paragraphs 32, 57 and 61 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.



3. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

The application site is bounded to the north by residential properties in Main Street.  The 
properties that would be most directly affected are 1-4 Poplar Cottages, the Police House, 
and Talgarth, Main Road.  

The back to back separation distances between the dwellings and 1-4 Poplar Cottages is 
shown to be approximately 22m, with rear gardens in the development backing onto these 
having a depth of approximately 12.5m long. The side elevation of plot 3 is shown to 
approximately 8m from the rear boundary of the Police House, Main Road and 26m from the 
rear elevation of that property. The rear elevations of plots 3, 4 and 5 are located 
approximately 12m from the side boundary of Talgarth, Main Road.  These distances are all 
considered to meet best practice guidance and are sufficient to ensure the outlook, privacy, 
daylight and other residential amenities of neighbouring properties are not harmfully affected, 
in accordance with the aims of Policy CP27 of the Joint Core.

It is noted that a third party has raised issues of noise and disturbance adjacent to the side of 
1 Poplar Cottage.  However cars are currently able park directly adjacent to the side wall of 
this property, thus the proposal providing a footway in this location would be likely to improve 
this situation.

Bentley Industrial Estate to the east of the site was originally approved with a number 
restrictive conditions including light industrial use only (condition 4) and machinery only 
operated between 8am to 6pm Mon to Fri and 8am to 12:30pm Saturdays (condition 7).  
Although condition 7 attached to the original permission of the site for industrial use restricts 
the use machinery in the evening it would not prevent the coming and going of vehicles or 
work and activity on the industrial estate after 6pm.  The introduction of a residential use in 
this position may, therefore, give rise to complaints from future occupants regarding noise and 
light pollution arising from the industrial centre, which may compromise its viability as 
employment land.  It was previously considered that should the attractiveness of the units 
within the industrial estate be affected by the development of the application site, is it 
considered that this would not be solely as a consequence of the proposed residential 
development but rather a consequence of already being in an area that includes residential 
uses.   The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has advised that since the industrial 
estate is restricted in terms of hours of operation and light industrial use, no objection is 
raised to the development, subject to the imposition of a condition relating to noise mitigation.  
The previous Appeal Inspectors also concluded that this could be dealt with be a suitably 
worded condition, therefore it is advised that there are insufficient grounds to justify a refusal 
on this point.

The proposal would therefore have an acceptable relationship with the neighbouring 
properties / uses, in accordance with policy CP27 of the JCS.



4. Access and Parking Arrangements

The development would be served via a vehicular access through the existing industrial 
estate to the west, with a vehicular entrance point on the eastern boundary of the site.  A 
separate pedestrian access is also proposed from Main Road, which runs through the car 
park of the Star Inn adjacent to the western side of 1 Poplar Cottages, Main Street.

The development would provide a total of 19 parking spaces.  Based on the Council’s 
maximum parking standard of 2 spaces per 2 / 3 bedroom dwelling and 3 spaces per 4 
bedroom dwelling, the development would require a total of (2 x 7 + 1 x 3) 17 spaces.  The 
spaces are shown to be of the requisite 2.4 x 4.8 metre dimensions, thus the level of parking 
meets the standards and is satisfactory.

It is noted that not all of parking spaces are directly adjacent to the plots which they relate to. 
Whilst this does not represent the ideal parking layout, the spaces are not so far removed 
from the units to which they relate to make their use impractical.  It is noted that the parking 
areas would have natural surveillance from dwellings in the development, and this is 
considered to be acceptable.

Third parties have commented that the layout includes tandem spaces (P13/P15 and 
P14/P16) this situation would be similar to a garage space with parking space to the front, 
and is accepted for the three plots serviced with this arrangement.

The Local Highway Authority has commented that the most recent application was refused 
for, amongst other considerations, the provision of the footpath linking the site to Main Road. 
The Highway Authority previously raised no objection, subject to conditions, to the planning 
application, however the Planning Inspector deemed that the plan the Local Highway 
Authority reviewed (13003-PO31), could not be considered at Appeal.  A new pedestrian 
access plan, 13003-P004, has been provided which shows a 1.9m footway through the 
current Public House car park. The principle of this has already been accepted by the 
highway authority and is therefore considered acceptable. 

The Local Highway Authority has advised that the other elements of the site have already 
been agreed in principle and have not altered from the previous planning application. The 
applicant should note that to undertake highway works to improve the pub car park access, 
the appropriate highway licence should be obtained.

Following from the previous appeal decision, the key issue to be addressed is the pedestrian 
link from the site to Main Road.  The drawings show that the position of this footpath would 
run adjacent to plot 1 and the car parking provision at the north east of the site, through the 
car park to the north of the site, adjacent to 1 Poplar Cottage, and then joining Main Road.  
The footpath would have a width of 1.9 metres, separated from the car parking area by timber 
bollards.  The Local Highway Authority has commented that the pedestrian access plan, 
13003-P004, shows a 1.9m footway through the Public House car park.  The principle of this 
has already been accepted by the Highway Authority and is therefore considered acceptable.



In order to accommodate the pedestrian link, the proposal would require alterations to the car 
park to the north of the site that serves The Star Inn PH.  The current parking spaces are 2.4 
metres by 5 metres with a 6 metre wide corridor between bays to allow vehicles to 
manoeuvre.  The alterations show that a wall and landscape strip between the car park and 
adjacent industrial units would be removed, to allow the car park to be extended to the east, 
giving a footpath of 1.9 metres, 2 rows of car spaces (16 total) with a depth of 4.8 metres and 
a central aisle width of 6 metres.  In order to accommodate this width, alterations to the 
industrial units would be required to relocate fire doors to the sides of the units, with a fire 
escape route shown to the remaining door, and the removal of an air conditioning unit and 
overhanging cladding to allow vehicles to park flush to the building.  The refuse collection 
area for the Star Inn would be retained.  

The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that other elements of the scheme have been 
previously accepted.  For these reasons the Local Highway Authority has raised no objection 
to the development.  Conditions relation to construction of the access / footway and parking 
provision are requested if the application is recommended for approval.  

For these reasons the development is considered to be in accordance with Policy CP31 of the 
Joint Core Strategy.

5. Impact on Heritage Assets

The site lies adjacent to a designated Conservation Area, where Section 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires planning authorities, when 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
Conservation Area, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character and appearance of that area.

Policy CP30 of the Joint Core Strategy states that development proposals must conserve 
and, where possible, enhance the District's historic environment. This includes point c) which 
seeks to: “Conserve, enhance, maintain and manage the district's heritage assets and their 
setting including listed buildings, conservation areas, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 
archaeological sites and Historic Parks and Gardens.

Saved Policy HE8 of the EHDLP: 2nd Review relates to development which affects the setting 
of a conservation area.



The Council’s Conservation Officer has commented that the main change from the previous 
application relates to the layout in the north-eastern part of the site and to the location and 
details of the pedestrian link from the site to Main Road and an adjustment to the layout of the 
pub car park.  Proposal (49352/006) was supported by the Principal Conservation Officer as it 
reflected closely the suggestions made at pre-app (post refusal of the 004 scheme).  The 
orientation of the units was felt to be much improved, providing an active street frontage to the 
linear street pattern. The view across the pub car park from the conservation area will be 
terminated by front of the house unit on plot 8 with a backdrop of trees, responding to the 
prevailing character. The overall quality and mix of materials was felt to be acceptable, with 
windows and doors of timber construction. The relatively recent development adjacent to the 
site (1-4 Poplar Cottages) was felt to serve as a useful benchmark.

The overall layout, design, scale and appearance of the development remains the same as 
the previous scheme, with the alterations to the pedestrian link forming the difference to the 
previous scheme; therefore, the previous comments remain and there are no objections to the 
revised proposal raised by the Conservation Officer.  As such it is considered that the 
proposal would preserve the setting of the Conservation Area in accordance with the aims of 
S.72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

In terms of archaeology, the County Archaeologist has raised no concerns, with a condition 
requested to secure a programme of archaeological assessment.

6. Planning Obligations and CIL

Whilst under Policy CP13 of the JCS developments resulting in the net gain of one or more 
dwellings would be liable for the provision of affordable housing, the revisions to the National 
Planning Policy Guidance revise this threshold to developments providing more than 10 
dwellings, or a floorspace of more than 1,000 m2.  The application shows 786.8 m2, with 
officer calculations confirming that this scale of development would not exceed the 1,000 m2 
threshold.  As such, no affordable housing provision is sought as part of this application.

The development would result in the creation of new dwellings / residential floorspace and 
thus the development would be liable for CIL, which under the Council’s CIL Charging 
Schedule would equate to a charge of £180 per m2.
 
7. Other issues

Drainage – The Council’s Drainage Consultant has confirmed that the site is located in Flood 
Zone 1 (low probability of flooding) however, there is some anecdotal evidence of high water 
table and /or poor drainage. The proposals would generate increased run-off which must be 
controlled on site and not increase flood risk elsewhere.  The BGS mapping indicates gault 
clay formation, which is likely to have low permeability and would be unsuitable for 
conventional soakaways.

A drainage report has been submitted and the Drainage Consultant has advised that the 
applicant could provide a satisfactory drainage system, secured through conditions. 



Thames Water has advised on previous schemes that with regard to sewerage infrastructure 
capacity, it does not have any objection to the development.

Contaminated Land - The Council’s Contaminated Land Officer has previously confirmed that 
the site lies adjacent to historic potentially contaminated land (Petroleum Storage Facilities - 
Potential Medium Risk and Factory - Use not specified Potential Medium Risk).  Whilst the 
Contaminated Land Officer has no objection to planning permission being granted, since no 
desktop study has been provided by the applicant to assess the extent of potential 
contamination on site, and as a development sensitive to contamination, conditions are 
requested dealing with potentially contaminated land.

Sustainable Construction –  Following changes to legislation in respect of sustainable 
construction, the Council seek residential development to incorporate measure that provide 
energy savings of no less than 10% above Building Regulations in force at the time the 
development is to be constructed.  A condition could be attached to any approval to require 
details of such energy savings to be submitted and approved prior to commencement of 
development and subsequent implementation / verification of said measures.  Such a 
condition would be required in order for the development to comply with the requirements of 
Policy CP24 of the JCS.

Ecology – The County Ecologist has confirmed that neither of the small off-site ponds 
appears likely to support breeding Great Crested Newt (GCN), since both appear lacking in 
suitable vegetation and are likely to be intermittently wet.  There remains the potential for 
terrestrial GCN to occur, although mitigating factors include the recent substantial 
deterioration in the main breeding population at Bentley pond (the decline seems to be 
catastrophic) and the presence of significant physical obstacles between the pond and the 
application site.  Overall, the likelihood of GCN occurring on site is very limited and therefore 
reasonable avoidance measures would seem to be a pragmatic solution.  Clearly if GCN are 
recorded on site during works then the applicant would need to cease works and assess the 
requirement for a European Protected Species Mitigation (EPSM) licence. 

To conclude, the County Ecologist requests that more detailed reasonable avoidance 
measures for GCN are submitted prior to the commencement of development activities, 
secured through a condition.

Recycling and Refuse – The Recycling and Refuse Team comment that the access road 
through Bentley Industrial Centre is not a public highway, so the contractor would require 
written confirmation that the owner of the road has granted access to the new estate and 
require an indemnity against damage caused by wear and tear from both the owners of this 
road and the owners of the access road where Biffa would be turning the vehicle.  Each 
property would be required to buy a 240l Green and 240l black wheeled recycling bin and a 
38l black glass box.  

A refuse vehicle tracking plan has been supplied which demonstrates that the site is capable 
of access by a refuse vehicle.  The other points are a matter to be resolved between the 
developer and Recycling and Refuse Team.



Impact on Trees – The proposal would result in the loss of a tree sited between the pub car 
park and the industrial units to make way for the expansion to the parking area.  The 
Council’s Arboricultural Officer has been consulted and has raised no objection to the 
development.  It is noted that the tree is sited directly adjacent to the industrial buildings and 
may be causing  damage to the structure.  Replacement tree planting is indicated to the 
southern boundary of the car park, as well as within the development itself, details of which 
could be secured through a landscaping condition.

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

Bentley Parish Council has objected to the development on several issues, which can be 
summarised as:

 Non conformity with the Bentley Neighbourhood Plan.
 The density is too high and close style design is contrary to Policy 2 of the Bentley 

Neighbourhood Plan.
 Overlooking of Poplar Cottages.
 Unsuitable access through the industrial centre.
 Adverse impact on highway safety. 
 Proximity of Plot 8 to a car maintenance garage.
 Unsuitable alterations to The Star public house car park.
 Impact on fire doors in the industrial unit.
 Removal of trees from the centre of the village.

The points raised by the Parish Council have been covered within the above report.

Conclusion

The development plan identifies the application site as falling within the Settlement Policy 
Boundary (SPB) for Bentley.  The site is no longer allocated for employment uses in the 
Bentley Neighbourhood Plan, which supersedes the former employment allocation in the 
EHDLP: Second Review.  Consequently, the site constitutes an unallocated greenfield site 
within the SPB, where the principle of new residential development is acceptable under the 
strategic policies of the development plan.

Whilst the development relies on its main access through the adjacent industrial estate, which 
is considered to be contrary to the interests of good urban design, the application 
demonstrates that a footpath link to Main Road could be provided through the Star Inn car 
park, which addresses the concern of the previous Planning Inspector. The Local Highway 
Authority has raised no objection to the proposal.

The development is considered to be of a satisfactory standard of design and is acceptable in 
terms of layout and scale, matters which have been considered acceptable by previous 
Inspectors.  The development is considered to have an acceptable relationship with the 
neighbouring occupiers and no concern has been raised by the Conservation Officer, who 
considers it to preserve the setting of the nearby Conservation Area. 



Having regard to the above and having taken into account all relevant material 
considerations, it is concluded that the proposed development addresses the concerns of the 
previous Planning Inspector, thus there is no sustainable reason to refuse planning 
permission. 

RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990

2 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings.

3 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for foul 
and surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include 
provision for all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of 
hardstanding to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway 
and should be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.

4 No development shall start on site until a construction method statement 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, which shall include:

 A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and 
construction work; The provision of long term facilities for 
contractor parking;

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works;

 Methods and phasing of construction works;



 Access and egress for plant and machinery;
 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 

material, and plant storage areas;
 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 

development during construction period; and
 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance 

or demolition work.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with 
the approved method statement.
Reason - In order that the Local Planning Authority can properly consider 
the effect of the works on the amenity of the locality.

5 No development shall take place above slab level until a scheme 
protecting the proposed dwellings from noise from the industrial estate 
adjacent to the development has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the agreed scheme, and these measures shall be 
completed prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved.  
Any mitigation measures set out in the approved scheme shall be 
retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure that acceptable noise levels within the dwellings and 
their associated curtilages are not exceeded, in the interests of the 
amenities for future occupiers of the dwellings.

6 No dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied until details for bin 
and cycle storage have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details, with provision made for each dwelling in 
accordance with the agreed details, prior to its first occupation.
Reason – To ensure satisfactory storage for bins and cycles within the 
development.

7 No dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied until space for vehicle 
parking and associated turning to serve that dwelling has been provided 
in accordance with the approved plans.  The vehicle parking and turning 
areas shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate on-site car parking provision for the 
approved development.

8 No development shall take place until a detailed written scheme of 
reasonable avoidance measures for Great Crested Newts has been 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details.
Reason – To protect and conserve the biodiversity of the area.



9 No dwelling shall be first occupied until the pedestrian link from the 
development to Main Road has been constructed, and the car parking 
area serving the Star Inn PH has been marked out, in accordance with 
the details shown on drawing number 13003-P1004 Rev#.  This shall 
include the relocation of projecting features (air conditioning units / 
cladding) and fire doors from the western elevation of the adjacent 
industrial units.  The pedestrian link and car park shall be retained in 
accordance with these details thereafter.
Reason – To provide a safe route for pedestrians to access / egress the 
development and to retain satisfactory vehicle parking for the Star Inn 
public house.

10 No dwelling shall by first occupied until full details of hard landscape 
works (to include; hard surfacing materials and means of enclosure) have 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of the relevant dwelling.
Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory.

11 No dwelling shall be first occupied until full details of soft landscape works 
have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority.  These details shall include; a planting plan incorporating; 
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with tree, plant and grass establishment); schedules of trees 
and plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate; and an implementation and maintenance programme.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details.
Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory.

12 No development shall commence on site until the following details 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority :- 
 (a) a desk top study report, documenting all the previous and existing 

land uses both on and adjacent to the site and including a 
conceptual site model and preliminary risk assessment. The report 
should be completed by a competent person and produced in 
accordance with national guidance, as set out in Contaminated 
Land Research Report No.11 and BS10175:2001;

and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:-
(b) a scheme outlining a site investigation and risk assessments 

designed to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on 
the site; 



(c) a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the 
extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all 
potential risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site 
model (devised in the desktop study), identification of all pollutant 
linkages and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and identified as unnecessary in the written 
report, an appraisal of remediation options and proposal of the 
preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the type of 
contamination found on site;

and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:-
(d) a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 

condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historical environment.  The scheme should include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management 
procedures and a verification plan outlining details of the data to be 
collected in order to demonstrate the completion of the remediation 
works and any arrangements for the continued monitoring of 
identified pollutant linkages.  Site works and details submitted shall 
be in accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a 
competent person.

The above reports and site works should be undertaken in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.

Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.

13 Before any part of the development is first occupied or brought into 
use (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority) a verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the 
remediation works carried out and a completion certificate confirming that 
the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 



The verification report and completion certificate shall be submitted in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

14 No development shall commence on site until a scheme has been 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate that the built development hereby permitted incorporates 
measures that provide energy savings of no less than 10% above 
Building Regulations in force at the time the development is to be 
constructed. 
Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report 
and completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted 
has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme. 
The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of 
assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 
confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to 
provide the required energy savings.
The energy saving works set out in the above report shall thereafter be 
maintained so that the required energy saving is sustained at the certified 
level for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission.

15 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved a lighting 
scheme shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. This scheme shall set out details of all existing and 
proposed external lighting, including security lighting within the adjacent 
Bentley Industrial Estate on the eastern boundary of the site. These 
details shall include; luminance levels, and where necessary angles of 
lighting and shielding. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details.
Reason – To protect the amenities of future occupiers of the dwellings 
and the character and appearance of the countryside and conservation 
areas.



16 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological assessment in 
accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) that has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in 
order to recognise, characterise and record any archaeological features 
and deposits that may exist here.  This assessment should initially take 
the form of trial trenching within the footprints of the proposed houses, car 
parks and access roads. If the results of the evaluation are deemed 
significant enough by the Local Planning Authority, then a programme of 
archaeological mitigation of impact based on the results of the trial 
trenching should be carried out in accordance with a further Written 
Scheme of Investigation that has been submitted to, and approved by, the 
Local Planning Authority. Following the completion of all archaeological 
fieldwork, a report will be produced in accordance with an approved 
programme including, where appropriate, a post-excavation assessment 
consisting of specialist analysis and reports together with a programme of 
publication and public engagement.
Reason - In the interests of the archaeological heritage of the site.

17 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
CIL form 0
CIL form 1
13003-P000 Rev B location plan
13003-P003 Rev C location plan showing site layout
Ecology statement
Appeal decision (7/4/2017)
Appeal decision (30/6/2016)
Appeal decision (9/3/2016)
Planning, design, access and heritage statement
Financial appraisal
Marketing details
Phase 1 ecological assessment
Surface water drainage design
E10 - existing firs escape positions
13003-001 Rev J proposed site layout
13003-P002 - block plan
13003-P004 Rev B pedestrian access
13003-P005 Rev C proposed floor plans (plots 3-5)
13003-P010 Rev D proposed elevations (plots 3-5)
13003-P012 proposed elevations (plots 1 & 2)
13033-P006 proposed floor plans (plots 1 & 2)
13003-P007 proposed floor plans (plots 6-8)
13003-P014 proposed elevations (plots 6-8)



13003-P008 parking barn plans and elevations
13003-P015 bicycle storage sheds
13003-P011 proposed street view
13003-P020 proposed section A-A
13003-P021 proposed section B-B
13003-P1004 pedestrian entrance
13003-P1006 existing elevations (units 1,2 & 3)
16063-001 - swept path analysis

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East 
Hampshire District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach and works with applicants/agents on development proposals in 
a manner focused on solutions by:

  offering a pre-application advice service,
  updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the 

processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions, and,

  by adhering to the requirements of the Planning Charter.

In this instance the applicant;
  was updated of any issues after the initial site visit.
   Amended plans were received to correct an anomaly in the 

drawings. 

2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended)

In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf



3 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development, you should immediately report this 
in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  An investigation and risk 
assessment should then be undertaken by competent persons and in 
accordance with ‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11’.  A written report of the findings, to include a 
remediation statement, should then be forwarded to the Local Planning 
Authority for appraisal.  Following completion of remedial measures a 
verification report should be prepared that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out.  It is recommended that no 
part of the development be occupied until all remedial and 
validation works are complete and a Completion Certificate has 
been issued.  This would ensure that no future investigation is 
required under Part2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.

4 The applicant should note that to undertake highway works to the Star 
Inn PH car park, the appropriate highway licence should be obtained 
from Hampshire County Council.

CASE OFFICER: Stephen Wiltshire 01730 234229
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 01    Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, Main Road, Bentley, 
Farnham

Block plan



SECTION 1   Item 01    Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, Main Road, Bentley, 
Farnham

East elevation

South elevation



SECTION 1   Item 01    Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, Main Road, Bentley, 
Farnham

West and north elevation

North-east street elevation







Item No.: 02
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or 
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL Two detached two storey houses one with garage and the other with 
parking space and new vehicular access to Primula Road (amended 
site layout plan received 14/8/2017)

LOCATION: 2 Somerset Villas, Mill Chase Road, Bordon, GU35 0EL
REFERENCE 24314/015 PARISH: Whitehill and Bordon
APPLICANT: Mr Daly
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY :

13 July 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 04 August 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr T A Muldoon
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

This application is referred to Committee at the request of Councillor Muldoon so 
that issues relating to highways safety and protection of trees can be fully debated.

Site and Development

This site is located off Mill Chase Road, adjacent to residential development and Mill Chase 
Secondary School, within the Bordon Settlement Policy Boundary.  The access is along a 
single width, unmade track that serves five dwellings as well as this site.  The proposal is 
for two detached dwellings with access via Primula Road, which would involve making an 
access through a turning head (which residents use for parking) and through the existing 
hedge.  

This is a full application for two dwellings.  The site has a long planning history, with outline 
permission having been granted for two dwellings in 2013.  The subsequent application for 
approval of reserved matters was refused in 2016, partly because the site did not match up 
with that approved at the outline stage and a further full application for planning permission 
has been refused because of the impact upon the protected trees at the rear of the site.  In 
a following application, the depth of one of the dwellings was reduced to increase the 
distance between the proposed development and the trees, but this was refused permission 
on the grounds of impact on protected trees and on wildlife (due to insufficient information 
having been provided).  

The current application has been submitted for two dwellings, with additional information in 
relation to impact on trees and on wildlife having been submitted.



Relevant Planning History

24314 - Outline permission - 3 dwellings.  Refused 1978
24314/001 - Outline permission - pair of semi-detached dwellings and one detached 

dwelling.  Permission 1985
24314/003 - Outline - 2 detached two storey dwellings with integral double garages (as 

amended by plans received 05/11/97). Not proceeded with 18/04/1998  
24314/005 - Outline application -three detached two storey dwellings and new vehicular 

access from Primula Road.  Withdrawn 24/04/2012  
24314/006 - Outline - three detached dwellings with new vehicular access.  Refused 

18/09/2012.  Dismissed at Appeal
24314/007 - Prune one oak tree by crown lifting to give 1m clearance above the existing 

roofline of the sports hall building, and reduce towards the trunk by 2m to the 
nearest growth point on two branches on the north eastern aspect of the 
canopy. The oak tree is subject to TPO (EH893)12 and is situated on land 
adjoining 2 Somerset Villas, Mill Chase Road, Bordon.   Consent 02/10/2012  

24314/008 - Outline - two detached dwellings and creation of new vehicular access.  
Outline permission 18/02/2013   

24314/009 - Two dwellings and creation of new vehicular access.  Withdrawn 15/07/2015  
24314/010 - Two dwellings and creation of new vehicular access.  Refused 05/01/2016  
24314/012 - Variation of condition 16 of 24314/008 to allow substitution of site location and 

block plans.  Refused 04/03/2016  
24314/011 - Approval of reserved matters to application 24314/008 - two detached 

dwellings.  Refused 15/03/2016  
24314/013 - Two detached dwellings, one with single garage, one with parking space, and 

new vehicular access to Primula Road.  Refused 16/12/2016 
24314/014 - T1 Oak Tree - Reduce crown by 5 metres in height and 6 metres in width 

leaving a finished crown height of 12 metres and a finished crown spread 
(radius) of 6 metres.  T2 Oak Tree - Reduce crown by 6 metres in height and 
5 metres in width leaving a finished crown height of 12 metres and a finished 
crown spread (radius) of 6 metres.  Refused 07/04/2017   

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP2 - Spatial Strategy
CP10 - Spatial strategy for housing
CP21 - Biodiversity
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport
CP32 - Infrastructure

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

H3 - Residential Development within Settlement Policy Boundaries
C6 - Tree Preservation



Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

Core planning principles: Paragraph 17: Good amenity for all.

Section 4 – Promoting sustainable transport.
Section 6 – Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes.
Section 7 – Requiring good design.
Section 10 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

HCC County Ecologist - No objection subject to a condition.

Arboricultural Officer - No objection subject to conditions.

Drainage Consultant - No objection subject to conditions.

EHDC Parking Team - The proposal complies with parking standards but consideration 
should be given to providing more parking to accommodate any possible overspill.

Whitehill Town Council - Objection.
Members objected to the application on the following grounds:
Concerns to the physical infrastructure; in particular drainage.
Over-development of the site.
Highway issues: vehicular access and additional traffic generation; alongside the loss of 
parking to existing residents. Discussion empathised with the concerns already expressed 
by the residents.

Representations

Five representations have been received, objecting to the application.  Issues raised are:

a) additional traffic using Primula Road, which is unsuitable to accommodate this and 
Meadow View and loss of space for parking in Primula Road;

b) additional noise and disturbance to neighbouring residents;
c) street light would be lost, or would have to be moved;
d) loss of privacy;
e) concern about the impact on wells that are understood to be on the site;
f) query about who owns the strip of land between the site and Primula Road
g) concern about proposal to block vehicle access through the lane with bollards, which 

would allow pedestrian access through what is claimed to be private property;
h) no need for houses to be crammed onto this site with all the new development going on 

in Bordon and Whitehill;



i) queries over land ownership, and ownership of the Laurel Hedge which would have to 
be removed;

j) concern about surface water drainage and flooding in the area; and
k) impact on wildlife.

Determining Issues

1.  Principle of development
2.  Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties and occupants of the proposed 

dwellings
3.  Impact on the character of the area
4.  Impact on trees
5.  Highways considerations
6.  Impact on wildlife
7.  Drainage
8.  Community Infrastructure Levy

Planning Considerations 

1.  Principle of development

Policy CP1 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) applies to 
development within the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) where there is a presumption in 
favour of development.  Policy CP2 identifies a sustainable hierarchy of SPB and sets out 
five levels of sustainable settlements.  The application site falls within one of the identified 
SPBs, and outline permission has been granted in 2013 for the development of this site for 
two dwellings.  Policy H3 of the Local Plan allows residential development within SPBs if it 
involves the re-use of vacant or under-used land or buildings, or involves infilling.  The 
proposal is considered to be in accordance with this policy.  The principle of development 
is, therefore, acceptable subject to all other relevant planning considerations and policies.  

2.  Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties and occupants of the proposed 
dwellings

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing.   Paragraph 17 of the NPPF requires that a good standard of 
amenity be provided for existing and proposed occupiers.

There have been concerns with previous applications about overlooking of the rear garden 
of 10 Primula Road.  However, the relationship between the dwelling on plot 2 and the rear 
garden of 10 Primula Road would be similar with this proposal to that previously approved 
in outline with the dwelling sited so as not to have views directly into the rear garden 
opposite.  The dwelling on plot 2 would face the side elevation of 10 Primula Road, which 
has a first floor window that was permitted to serve a bathroom.

There is a school site to the rear and there are no first floor side windows proposed that 
would overlook neighbouring properties. 



The impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers would be acceptable in accordance 
with Policy CP27 of the Joint Core Strategy and Paragraph 17 of the NPPF.

3.  Impact on the character of the area

At present the site is an open area of land between residential properties and a secondary 
school.  The site is now very overgrown, although it has previously been cleared.  As a 
small open area at the end of a cul-de-sac, it is not considered that the site makes a 
significant, positive contribution to the character of the wider area.  The site has been 
considered suitable for residential development, with an outline permission having been 
granted in 1985 and again in 2013.  In 1997, an application for three, four bedroomed 
houses was submitted for the site.  One of the dwellings was partly sited on the roadway at 
the end of the cul-de-sac, which led to highway objections because this land is subject to a 
highway designation.  The plans were amended to two, four-bedroomed dwellings to 
resolve the highways issues; however, the turning area remained on land with a highways 
designation.  There was some suggestion that the highways designation could be removed 
from the land but the issue was not resolved and no further action was taken on the 
application.

This application proposes one, three-bedroomed and one, four-bedroomed dwelling.  This 
would be a similar form of development to the previously approved outline scheme.  
However, a survey of the site has revealed that it is smaller than shown on the approved 
outline scheme so the site is slightly more constrained than previously indicated.  A further 
full application was submitted and refused because the details failed to take account of the 
impact on the protected trees at the rear of the site.  An amended scheme was then 
submitted in which the depth of one of the proposed houses was reduced to increase the 
distance between the trees to the rear and the development.  However, there was still an 
objection from the arboricultural officer and that application was refused permission on the 
grounds of impact on trees and on the grounds that it had not been demonstrated that there 
would not be harm to protected species..

The site has an area of about 0.68ha so a development of 2 dwellings would represent a 
density of 29 dwellings per hectare.  This is a low density compared with development in 
the adjacent Primula Close, but, due to the constraints of the site, is not considered to be 
inappropriate or unduly low. 

It is not considered that the proposal would be too cramped or out-of-character with the 
area.  The dwellings are a similar size to those previously approved but would be located 
closer together due to the width of the site having been incorrectly shown in the scheme 
permitted in outline previously.  

The design shown is for a pair of traditional pitched roofed, two storey dwellings and this 
would be in keeping with the surrounding area of Bordon.  The impact on the character of 
the area would be acceptable in accordance with Policy CP29 of the Joint Core Strategy.



4.  Impact on trees

The application for outline permission for three dwellings was refused (and dismissed on 
Appeal), largely due to concerns about the impact of the proposed development on trees 
and the impact of the trees on the development - there are two Oak trees to the rear of the 
site protected by a Tree Preservation Order.  It was considered that, whilst there was no 
direct adverse impact of the development on the health of the trees, due to the proximity of 
the protected trees and the extent of their canopies, there would be considerable post-
development pressure to fell or drastically reduce the trees in order to achieve satisfactory 
residential amenity, adversely affecting the trees' amenity value.

With the reduction in number of dwellings to two, there is more space around the dwellings 
for amenity use and more opportunity to provide amenity space and parking space that is 
not seriously affected by the tree canopies.  There was no objection to the outline scheme 
for two dwellings from the Arboricultural Officer that was permitted in 2013 (reference 
24314/008), subject to the submitted arboricultural details being implemented.

It was subsequently discovered that the site was more constrained than originally believed 
and, whilst the Arboricultural Officer indicated that he considered that a satisfactory scheme 
could be provided, he objected to the schemes that were subsequently submitted because 
the levels within the root protection area of the tree on plot 2 were to be reduced.  He 
requested that up to date arboricultural details be provided in line with the requirements of 
BS 5837:2012.  Further, over the years the trees have grown but the arboricultural details 
were not updated, leading to the last application preceding this one being refused on the 
grounds of impact on protected trees

In the case of the current application, the arboricultural officer is satisfied that the 
arboricultural details provided are accurate and provided they are implemented the 
protected trees would not be harmed by the proposed development.  It is recommended 
that the arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan, and the drainage details 
submitted, should be required to be complied with by condition.  Subject to these 
conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with EHDLP: Second Review Policy C6.

5.  Highways considerations

The current access to the site is along a narrow track with very poor visibility at the access 
to Mill Chase Road and the previous outline permission was granted on the basis of the use 
of a new access via Primula Road (a small residential estate), with provision being required 
for the lane to be blocked off to prevent its use by occupants of the new dwellings.

The original plans for the Primula Road estate do not show parking in the turning-head 
through which access would be provided - the approved drawings show the current 
application site as a potential future extension of the development, subject to land 
acquisition (reference 24631).  Photographs submitted show that residents park in the 
turning-head area but parking provision in this location was not part of the originally 
approved plans.



However, despite the concerns of nearby residents about highways safety, parking 
problems and increased traffic using Primula Road, there is no objection to the application 
from the County Highways Officer, who prefers that the Primula Road access be used 
rather than the track onto Mill Chase Road.  On the earlier outline scheme it was suggested 
that the applicant be advised to check that there is no ransom strip between Primula Road 
and the site, but this would be separate from the planning process.  Four parking spaces 
are stated to be provided in the application forms, although five would be required for the 
dwellings.  An amended drawing has been received showing an additional parking space so 
that the Council's standards would be met.

In the Appeal Decision on the proposal to erect 3 dwellings on the site, which was 
dismissed, the Inspector referred to the access issues to the site.  He was particularly 
concerned that any additional use of the access via the lane onto Mill Chase Road would 
be dangerous and could lead to vehicles backing out onto the main road.  He also 
expressed some concerns about the access via Primula Road, but did not rule out its use.  
He did not consider that the use of the access point for undesignated parking by existing 
residents would justify refusal of the application.

The County Highway Authority has also previously accepted the use of the Primula Road 
access by the existing dwelling at 2 Somerset Villas.

The Highways Officer has not raised an objection to the access or parking arrangements, 
subject to conditions.  Hampshire County Council Highways team also advise that the 
correct highway works agreements should be sought before any works are carried out to 
the highway.  The access should be provided before any other works are carried out so that 
construction traffic can use the Primula Road access.  The proposal would be in 
accordance with EHDLP:JCS Policy CP31.

6.  Impact on wildlife

At the time of the refusal of outline permission for 3 dwellings and the subsequent appeal, 
the site had been cleared of vegetation.  Subsequently the site has become overgrown and 
neighbours have referred to wildlife being present on the site.  A consultation was, 
therefore, sent to the County Ecologist when the previous application was being considered 
and he recommended that a Phase 1 ecological survey of the site be required.  This was 
not submitted, which led to ecological concerns being one of the reasons for the previous 
refusal.  A Phase 1 Ecological Survey has been submitted with the current application and 
the Hampshire County Ecologist states that this concludes that the site is characterised by 
scrappy ruderal vegetation and bramble with some larger shrubs and tall trees at the 
peripheries. The site is essentially isolated from other semi-natural habitats locally. Overall, 
the site is considered to be of limited ecological value, with minimal potential for supporting 
legally-protected species.  A condition is recommended and, subject to this, the proposal 
would be in accordance with EHDLP:JCS Policy CP21.



7.  Drainage Issues

Representations on the application have included reference to the fact that there may be 
some old wells on the site.  The Council's Drainage Consultant notes that the water table 
can be high in Bordon so conventional soakaways may not be appropriate, but the drainage 
strategy is seen to be acceptable in principle and Council's Drainage Consultant had no 
objection to the previous proposal, subject to conditions.   With this current application, the 
Drainage Consultant has no objection subject to conditions.

8. Community Infrastructure Levy

The proposal would be liable for the payment of CIL and forms have been submitted.

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments

The comments of Whitehill Town Council are noted, and these are issues that are referred 
to in the report above.  It is not agreed that the proposal would be 'overdevelopment' as this 
is a comparatively low density development.  There have been a number of previous 
applications on the site and the Council's Drainage Consultant has been satisfied that 
drainage issues could be covered by conditions.  The highways issues have also been fully 
considered and the County Highway Authority has no objection to the proposal.  It would be 
the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that he has a right of access through from the 
site to Primula Road.

Conclusion

It is concluded that the proposal would be in keeping with the character of the area in 
general and would not harm protected trees or protected species.  The access as proposed 
would be acceptable to the Highway Authority and the impact on amenities of existing and 
proposed dwellings would be acceptable.  The proposal would be in accordance with 
EHDLP: Local Plan, EHDLP:JCS and NPPF Policies.

RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990



2 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for 
surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for 
all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of hardstanding 
to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway and should 
be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any 
part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition.

3 The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 
provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface/s to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and 
avoid discharge of water onto the public highway.

4 Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level shall take place on site until samples / details including 
manufacturers details of all the materials to be used for external facing 
and roofing for the development hereby approved have been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings.

5 No development shall start on site until the access, including the footway 
and/or verge crossing shall be constructed and the lines of sight provided 
in accordance with the approved plans.  The lines of site splays shown on 
the approved plans shall be kept free of any obstruction exceeding 1 
metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and shall be 
subsequently maintained so thereafter.
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility 
in the interests of highway safety.  It is considered necessary for this to be 
a pre-commencement condition because the road and footpaths are 
essential to highway safety, upon which the remainder of the 
development hinges.  As such this is required to be addressed prior to 
development commencing and therefore goes to the heart of the planning 
permission.



6 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
existing access has been stopped up and effectively closed with the 
footway provided or verge reinstated in accordance with details which 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.
Reason - In the interests of highways safety.

7 The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until 
a detailed boundary treatment plan has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall include details 
of the positions, design, materials/species of the boundary treatments to 
be erected/planted.  The approved details shall be fully implemented 
before any part of the development is occupied and shall be retained 
thereafter.
Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area 
and to safeguard the privacy and amenities of the residents of the locality.

8 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any Order 
revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order) no extensions and 
outbuildings otherwise permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Class(es) A, 
B, C, D, E  of said Order shall be carried out on the dwellinghouse or 
within its curtilage without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason - It is considered that further extension of these dwellings could 
result in an adverse effect upon the visual character of the area, or harm 
protected trees.

9 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved Arboricultural Method Statement prepared 
by Alderwood Consulting Limited dated 6 March 2017 and Tree 
Protection Plan (drawing number 150401/05 Rev C) and the received by 
the Local Planning Authority on 9 June 2017 and the Indicative Drainage 
Plan Reference 150401/06 Rev C.
Reason - To ensure that the trees on and around the site are adequately 
protected from damage to their health and /or amenity value.

10 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a 
minimum of 5 car parking spaces have been provided within the curtilage 
of the site and thereafter maintained and kept available at all times.
Reason - To ensure the adequate provision of on site parking for the 
purpose of highway safety.

11 No development shall commence on site until a scheme has been 
submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate that the built development hereby permitted incorporates 
measures that provide energy savings of no less than 10% above 
Building Regulations in force at the time the development is to be 
constructed. 



Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report 
and completion certificate shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the built development hereby permitted 
has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme. 
The developer shall nominate a competent person for the purpose of 
assessing and providing the above required report and certificate to 
confirm that the completed works incorporate such measures as to 
provide the required energy savings.
The energy saving works set out in the above report shall thereafter be 
maintained so that the required energy saving is sustained at the certified 
level for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change.  It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission.

12 Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation 
measures detailed within the Phase 1 Survey (Vesper, May 2017) unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and with Policy CP21 
of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.

13 No development shall commence on site until the following details 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority :- 
 (a) a desk top study report, documenting all the previous and existing 

land uses both on and adjacent to the site and including a 
conceptual site model and preliminary risk assessment. The report 
should be completed by a competent person and produced in 
accordance with national guidance, as set out in Contaminated 
Land Research Report No.11 and BS10175:2001;

and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:-
(b) a scheme outlining a site investigation and risk assessments 

designed to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on 
the site; 

(c) a written report of the findings which includes, a description of the 
extent, scale and nature of contamination, an assessment of all 
potential risks to known receptors, an update of the conceptual site 
model (devised in the desktop study), identification of all pollutant 
linkages and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and identified as unnecessary in the written 
report, an appraisal of remediation options and proposal of the 
preferred option(s) identified as appropriate for the type of 
contamination found on site;

and unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:-



(d) a detailed remediation scheme designed to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historical environment.  The scheme should include all works 
to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works, site management 
procedures and a verification plan outlining details of the data to be 
collected in order to demonstrate the completion of the remediation 
works and any arrangements for the continued monitoring of 
identified pollutant linkages.  Site works and details submitted shall 
be in accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a 
competent person.

The above reports and site works should be undertaken in 
accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.

Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.  It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.

14 Before any part of the development is first occupied or brought into 
use (unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority) a verification report demonstrating the effectiveness of the 
remediation works carried out and a completion certificate confirming that 
the approved remediation scheme has been implemented in full shall both 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
The verification report and completion certificate shall be submitted in 
accordance with the approved scheme and undertaken by a competent 
person in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.
Reason - To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users 
of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

15 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
Design and Access Statement
tree report
Ecology report



Drg no. 150401/01 - location plan
Drg no. 150401/04 Rev D - indicative site layout (amended)
Drg no. 150401/05 Rev C - surface finishes plan
Drg no. 150401/06 Rev C - indicative drainage plan
Drg no. 150401/07 Rev C - finished levels
Drg no. 150401/08  - floor plans - 3 bed house
Drg no. 150401/09 - elevations  - 3 bed house
Drg no. 150401/10 Rev C - floor plans - 4 bed house
Drg no. 150401/11 Rev C - elevations - 4 bed house
Drg no. 150401/12 Rev C - proposed street scene

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East 
Hampshire District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach and works with applicants/agents on development proposals in 
a manner focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance:
 the application was acceptable as submitted and no further 

assistance was required.

2 The proposed development referred to in this planning permission is a 
chargeable development liable to pay Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) under Part 11 of the Planning Act 2008 and the CIL Regulations (as 
amended)

In accordance with CIL Regulation 65, East Hampshire District Council 
will issue a Liability Notice in respect of the chargeable development 
referred to in this planning permission as soon as practicable after the 
day on which planning permission first permits development.  Further 
details on the Council’s CIL process can be found on the East Hampshire 
District Council website:
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Planning%20C
ontributions%20and%20CIL%20Supplementary%20Planning%20Docum
ent%20-%20April%202016.pdf



3 There is understood to be a sewer crossing this site and further guidance 
on development in relation to this should be sought from Thames Water.

4 You are advised to check whether there is a ransom strip between the 
proposed site access and Primula Road.

CASE OFFICER: Nicky Powis 01730 234226
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 02    2 Somerset Villas, Mill Chase Road, Bordon, GU35 0EL

Amended site layout

Proposed street scene





Item No.: 03
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or 
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL All weather riding arena
LOCATION: Maddocks Hill House, Maddocks Hill, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0JA
REFERENCE 20283/011 PARISH: Ropley
APPLICANT: Mr Louisson
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY :

03 August 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 25 August 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr C Louisson
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION

This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a District 
Councillor.

The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in accordance 
with the Council’s procedures for handling planning proposals submitted by or on 
behalf of Council Members and Staff.

Site and Development

Maddocks Hill House is a two storey detached property set within a rural location on a 
corner plot where Vicarage Land and Maddocks Hill meet. The land slopes down from the 
front of the site at the north to south. There are two protected trees on the north-western 
corner of the plot. The property is accessed from the west and benefits from a gravel 
parking and turning area. The property has a rear garden beyond which is a grass paddock 
to the south, and a stable block which was granted in 2002 for private use incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse (under planning reference 20283/005). The dwelling lies 
within the settlement policy boundary, but the land to the south to which this application 
relates is considered to be countryside being outside of any settlement policy boundary.

Permission is sought for an all-weather riding arena which would be on a square of land 
which is a grass paddock. It is proposed that the riding arena perimeter fence would be 
standard pressure treated softwood post and rail fencing. The area would be levelled, due 
to the gradient of the site, and would measure approximately 20 metres in width by 20 
metres in length. The upper surface material proposed is 100mm compacted soft sand with 
50mm soft track rubber.



Relevant Planning History

20283/003 - Single-storey ground floor extension and new first floor extension over existing 
garage and playroom. Permission 30/05/1997

20283/005 - Stable block comprising three stables, associated concrete hardstanding and 
demolition of existing outbuildings. Permission 17/06/2002

20283/009 - Conversion of integral garage to habitable accommodation, single storey 
extension to side, detached garage and relocation of access (as amended by 
plans received 15/08/2013 to remove proposed garage and access alteration).  
Permission 2013 

20283/010 - Extension to existing stable block to provide garaging.  Permission 2014 

Development Plan Policies and Proposals

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014)

CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
CP19 - Development in the countryside
CP20 - Landscape
CP27 - Pollution
CP29 - Design
CP31 - Transport

East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (2006)

C12 - Equestrian Uses

Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development;

Core planning principles: Paragraph 17: Good amenity for all.

Section 7 – Requiring good design.
Section 11 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

Village Design Statement - Ropley Village Design Statement - non statutory planning 
guidance that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material 
planning consideration.

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

Drainage Consultant - I note the comments below regarding the drainage proposals. 
However, ground conditions are likely to be clay overlying chalk. Under the circumstances 
the applicant will need to carry out some site investigation, namely a site percolation test to 
support the design. Happy for this to be covered by condition DR02 with details to be 
provided pre commencement.



Landscape Officer - No landscape objection

Environmental Health - No objections. Whilst I can see no proposals for external lighting I 
would recommend the following condition:
No external lighting/ floodlighting shall be installed on the site until such details have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The lighting shall be 
installed, operated, and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason - In the interests of the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties 
Note: When submitting details for approval, it is requested that a report from a competent 
Lighting Professional is provided, confirming that the external lighting installation meets the 
Obtrusive Light Limitations for Exterior Lighting Installations for Environmental Zone E2 
(Rural) as set out in the "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011" 
issued by the Institute of Lighting Professionals.
In case the applicant intends to give riding lessons, please add the following Informative:
informative:
The applicant is advised that a licence under the Riding Establishments Act 1964 is 
required for the business of keeping horses for the purpose of their being let out on hire for 
riding or the purpose of their being used in providing, in return for payment, instruction in 
riding. For further information contact Environmental Health on 01420 234360
Ropley Parish Council - No objection, subject to the following conditions. No lighting or 
sound systems to be installed without planning permission being sort to protect the amenity 
of the local area. No business use to be commenced without prior approval being sort again 
to protect the amenity of the local area.

Representations

One representation has been received making the following comments:

a) that they agree to the development being 1m further away from their boundary
b) that they are assured that the development would not be for commercial use and, 
therefore, anticipate no noise or traffic issues
c) they would not want floodlights on the site

[Officer note: the applicants have confirmed that they do not propose commercial use or 
floodlights on the site]

Determining Issues

1. Principle of development
2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties
3. Impact on the character of the area
4. Highway implications
5. Drainage



Planning Considerations 

1. Principle of development

Policy CP19 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan; Joint Core Strategy (JCS) sets out 
that permission will only be granted for development within the countryside provided it 
meets several criteria, one of which is that there is a proven need for a countryside location.  
Saved policy C12 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review states that, 
‘planning permission will be granted for stables, horse-riding schools and/or riding centres 
in the countryside provided that the scheme would: re-use existing buildings or, where none 
exists or is not capable of conversion, be sited within an existing group of buildings; be well-
related to existing or proposed bridleways; not cause or exacerbate conflicts between 
equestrians and other users of the public highway; not harm the living conditions of existing 
or future residents; and not harm, by itself or in combination with existing equestrian 
establishments, the character of the local landscape including the countryside setting of 
settlements.’

It is generally accepted that horse-riding usually requires a countryside location. In this 
instance, the proposal is for an all-weather equestrian riding arena for personal use. The 
arena would be sited on land adjacent to the owners’ dwellinghouse and their existing 
stabling block. It is proposed that the arena would replace a grassed paddock and provide 
an arena which is suitable for the exercising of horses in all weathers. 

Therefore, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in principle, subject to 
compliance with all other relevant policies which will be discussed below.

2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties

Policy CP27 of the JCS requires that developments would not have an unacceptable impact 
on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring properties through loss of privacy or 
excessive overshadowing. Policy CP27 of the JCS also refers to lighting schemes for a 
development not being permitted unless the minimum amount of lighting necessary to 
achieve its purpose proposed. It further continues that 'glare and light spillage from the site 
must be minimised'. Paragraph 17 of the NPPF amongst other core principles, requires 
development to provide a good level of amenity for all new and existing occupants of land 
and buildings.

The arena would be located to the rear of Maddocks Hill House. It is well distanced from 
neighbouring properties with the nearest being Ropley Cottage to the north, the dwelling of 
which is in excess of 30 metres from the development. The nature of the development is 
such that it would not cause any dominance or overshadowing. It is sufficiently distanced so 
as not to cause loss of privacy.
 
Environmental Health have been consulted and raise no objection subject to a proposed 
condition that ensures that no external lighting or floodlighting is installed without 
agreement from the Local Planning Authority for the reasons of protecting the amenity of 
occupants of neighbouring properties.

Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policies CP27 and CP29 of the 
JCS.



3. Impact on the character of the area

Policy CP29 of the JCS seeks to ensure that development proposals are of exemplary 
standards of design and architecture, with a high quality external appearance that respect 
the area's particular characteristics.  It requires that developments are sympathetic to their 
setting in terms of scale, height and massing, and their relationship to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings, and that development should make a positive contribution to the 
overall appearance of the area.

The proposal is to the rear of the applicants' dwelling and adjacent their existing stable 
block. Therefore, the proposal is well related to the existing development on the site, and an 
obvious position for the applicants' use. The setting is considered to be appropriate. The 
area of land is currently a grassed paddock and the land slopes to the south. It is proposed 
that this would be levelled for the purposes of the riding arena. The site is fairly well 
screened by the existing stables to the west, the dwelling to the north and mature trees to 
the east. The Landscape Officer has raised no objection to the proposal.

Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP29 of the JCS and 
policy HE2 of the Local Plan.

4. Highway implications

Policy CP31 of the JCS requires that regard is had to any impact on the safety and 
convenience of the public highway. 

The arena would be for personal use of the occupants of Maddocks Hill House and it would 
be fully accessible considering the proposed location on site. It is considered that there 
would be no changes in traffic or impacts on the highway as a result of the proposed 
development.

Having regard to the above, the proposal is compliant with policy CP31 of the JCS.

5. Drainage

The Drainage Officer has commented that the ground conditions are likely to be clay 
overlying chalk. Therefore, the applicant will need to carry out some site investigation 
including a site percolation test in order to support the design. The Drainage Officer has 
recommended that if permission is granted, a condition be attached to ensure that these 
details are submitted prior to commencement of the proposed scheme.

Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be acceptable as it would be appropriate in its setting, would 
not detract from the character and appearance of the area, would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the amenities of neighbouring properties and would not have an adverse effect 
on the safety and function of the highway network. As such, the proposal is in compliance 
with the relevant policies of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy, 
and the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review.

RECOMMENDATION  PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:



1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this planning permission.
Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990

2 No development shall commence on site until details of a scheme for 
surface water drainage has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the Local Planning Authority.  Such details should include provision for 
all surface water drainage from parking areas and areas of hardstanding 
to prevent surface water from discharging onto the highway and should 
be based on site investigation and percolation tests.  The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details before any 
part of the development is first occupied and shall be retained thereafter.
Reason - To ensure adequate provision for drainage. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as such details 
need to be taken into account in the construction of the development and 
thus go to the heart of the planning permission.
Note: The applicant is requested to contact the Council's Drainage 
Consultant as soon as possible to discuss the details required for the 
discharge of the above condition.

3 No external lighting/ floodlighting shall be installed on the site until such 
details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The lighting shall be installed, operated, and 
maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason - In the interests of the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring 
properties and the interests of highway safety.
Note: When submitting details for approval, it is requested that a report 
from a competent Lighting Professional is provided, confirming that the 
external lighting installation meets the Obtrusive Light Limitations for 
Exterior Lighting Installations for Environmental Zone (to be specified for 
the circumstances) as set out in the "Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light GN01:2011" issued by the Institute of Lighting 
Professionals.

4 Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) the development hereby permitted shall 
be used only as private, non-commercial, riding arena incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as a private residence and for no other 
purpose.
Reason - To prevent the riding arena from being used for commercial 
purposes to the detriment of the locality with respect to increased activity 
and vehicle movements.



5 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars:

Application form
Design, Access and planning statement
Tree information
Location plan
Block plan
Surface details

Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development

Informative Notes to Applicant:

1 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF East 
Hampshire District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach and works with applicants/agents on development proposals in 
a manner focused on solutions by:

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting 
solutions.

In this instance the applicant was updated of any issues after the initial 
site visit.

2 The applicant is advised that a licence under the Riding Establishments 
Act 1964 is required for the business of keeping horses for the purpose 
of their being let out on hire for riding or the purpose of their being used 
in providing, in return for payment, instruction in riding. For further 
information contact Environmental Health on 01420 234360

CASE OFFICER: Rosie Virgo 01730 234245 Mon,Tues,Thu
———————————————————————————————————————



SECTION 1   Item 03    Maddocks Hill House, Maddocks Hill, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 
0JA

Site layout plan



SECTION 1   Item 03    Maddocks Hill House, Maddocks Hill, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 
0JA

Fence detail plan





Item No.: 04
The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or 
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

PROPOSAL 2 Sycamore on the southern edge of the woodland, north of the 
house, as shown on submitted plan and photos. - Fell

LOCATION: Little Benifold, Headley Hill Road, Headley, Bordon, GU35 8DU
REFERENCE 27580/006 PARISH: Headley
APPLICANT: Mrs Williams
CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY :

03 August 2017

APPLICATION EXPIRY : 31 August 2017
COUNCILLOR(S): Cllr A J Williams / Cllr R C S Millard
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: CONSENT

This application is included on the agenda as it has been submitted by a the spouse 
of a District Councillor.

The Monitoring Officer confirms that this proposal has been dealt with in accordance 
with the Council’s procedures for handling planning proposals submitted by or on 
behalf of Council Members and Staff.

Site and Development

The trees, subject to this application, are 2 mid-aged Sycamores on the southern edge of 
the wooded area to the north of the property.  The application is to fell both trees and is 
made in order to allow more space for an adjacent Yew tree, which is currently being 
suppressed by the Sycamores.

Relevant Planning History

27580/002 - To fell four silver birches, one lilac and one chestnut and prune one oak tree.  
Consent 01/05/2001  
27580/003 - Extensions to side and rear.  Permission 02/07/2004   
27580/004 - Fell one silver birch, at the southern edge of the wooded area, to the rear of 
the property and adjacent to the eastern boundary.  Consent 19/11/2007  

Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments

None received.



Representations
 
None received.

Determining Issues

The main determining issues are whether the work is necessary and whether it would have 
a detrimental impact on local amenities.  In this case, the 2 Sycamores are having a 
negative impact on the adjacent Yew and, if left, they would soon be having a similar effect 
on an adjacent Oak.  The work would, therefore, be beneficial to the long-term health of this 
part of the woodland and would have no noticeable impact on the local landscape.
 
Conclusion

The proposed work is necessary, would benefit other adjacent trees and would have no 
noticeable impact on the local landscape.

RECOMMENDATION  CONSENT subject to the following conditions:

1 The contractor (or other person) carrying out the work shall contact the 
Arboricultural Officer at least 10 days prior to starting work and meet 
him/her on site if so required.
Reason - To ensure that the contractor or person carrying out the work 
clearly understands the consent.

2 All works shall be carried out in accordance with BS.3998 (2010).
Reason - To ensure work of sufficiently high standard is carried out on 
protected trees and to ensure their health and amenity value is not 
compromised.

CASE OFFICER: Mr S Garside 01730 234217
———————————————————————————————————————







PART 2

SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING

Related planning matters to be considered by the 
Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority

PS.488/2017
24 August 2017

SECTION 2 – OTHER MATTERS 

PROPOSAL 276 DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED WORKS  INCLUDING 
GARAGES, PARKING, ACCESS AND DEMOLITION OF 44 & 46 
RAMSHILL (AS AMPLIFIED BY TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT 
RECEIVED 05/02/2002, NOISE AND VIBRATION REPORTS RECEIVED 
24/04/2002 & 2/5/02,  PLANT LIST, ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL, 
PLANTING PLAN RECEIVED 01/05/2002, LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT 
PLAN RECEIVED 26/04/2002 AS AMENDED BY PLANS RECEIVED 
30/04/2002, 16/05/2002 AND 19/12/2002)

LOCATION: Land to the north of Ramshill, Petersfield, GU314AT
REFERENCE : 35364/002 PARISH: Petersfield
APPLICANT:       Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: Report be Noted

Purpose of Report 

To update the Committee on the position relating to the provision of the footpath along 
Skinners Farm Lane, which should have been provided as part of the above development. 

Summary

The provision of a public footpath link, as required by a condition attached to planning 
permission 35364/002 along Skinners Farm Lane has not yet been achieved. The matter has 
been the subject of ongoing discussions with both the developers and officers of Hampshire 
County Council acting as Highway Authority.  The purpose of this report is to up-date 
Councillors on progress since the last report in March 2017.



The current position

As the developer had not progressed the provision of the footpath down Skinners Farm Lane, 
a Breach of Condition Notice (BCN) was served in February 2013 to secure the councils 
position in this matter.  The BCN gave 2 years for compliance, as the difficulties in securing 
this route were recognised. 

This lengthy period was in recognition that the agreement of third parties would have to be 
obtained before works could commence on the footpath. If such agreement is not secured 
voluntarily, legal action may be the only option. Two years was considered, at the time, 
sufficient to resolve any third party/legal issues and provide the footpath. 

In response to the BCN, regular meetings have been held with the developer and HCC 
Highways officers to secure a way forward.  A review of the structural condition of the 
adjacent walls has taken place, carried out by agents for the developer and HCC Highways, 
which has established that the condition has deteriorated from the previous survey in 2008.  
As there is no public access to Skinners Farm Lane, no formal action can be taken by the 
council's Building Control Service.  Building Control officers have visited the site and have 
written to the owners of the walls to advise them that works should be carried out to make the 
walls safe.  

The developer sent letters to the four landowners of the walls identified as requiring remedial 
works and has met with the neighbouring landowners to secure a way forward with the 
structures on their land.  This is a private matter between the developer and the adjoining 
landowners to resolve, but progress has been monitored as part of the overall compliance 
with the BCN.  This part of the process has taken a significant amount of time to progress.

The retaining walls of the property closest to Ramshill, are in good condition and do not 
require any remedial works to be carried out.  However, the walls of the next two properties 
(in Hogarth Close) require significant works.  Assessments have been carried out with regard 
to the soil conditions in the gardens of these two properties and a solution devised.  Work 
earlier in the year cleared the overhanging vegetation on the western side of the lane and, as 
a result of a full assessment of the walls that side, a revised design solution has been put 
forward by the developer.

The design solution will not be adopted by the County Highway Authority (CHA) as it does not 
meet their adoption standards.  There has been no compromise in this matter but, subject to 
an additional drain at the bottom of the footpath, just before it reaches Ramshill, would satisfy 
the CHA with regards to drainage onto Ramshill.

The developer has been asked to provide alternative methods of maintaining the footpath 
once works are complete.  Talks have taken place with a third party to provide the end-
maintenance of the footpath and, subject to a reassurance from the CHA that they would not 
require a licence to discharge surface water onto Ramshill from the footpath, then it is likely 
that this arrangement can be secured.  That reassurance has been given verbally but would 
still need to be secured in writing from the CHA.



The lack of an end-maintenance provider for the footpath has been a major block to it being 
provided and, if the end-maintained is secured, Taylor Wimpey have confirmed that they will 
do the necessary works to the lane and adjacent walls to provide a safe footpath route.

If third parties do not agree to the future maintenance of the lane, then the developer may 
apply to have the condition varied so they do not need to supply the footpath.  An alternative 
option would be for the developer to carry out works to the lane, as set out in the submitted 
scheme, but not the works to the adjacent walls, which are outside of their control.  The 
second option would provide the footpath link, lighting, surfacing and drainage works but, if 
brought into use, would have unsafe structures adjacent.  The Council’s Building Control 
Service would then have to consider serving an Unsafe Structures Notice on the owners of 
the walls and secure compliance with the notices.  This would have cost implications for the 
Council for the serving and compliance of the notices, but would ensure the provision of the 
footpath.  The long-term maintenance of the footpath route, however, would still need to be 
resolved.

The period for compliance with the BCN has passed and the notice has taken effect.  
However, given that the developer is continuing to work closely with the Council to secure the 
footpath link, it is considered not expedient at this time to take further action at this time.  It is 
considered that a Court would very unlikely to find in the Council’s favour as all sides continue 
to work towards a positive outcome.

The footpath would become a public route linking to private land, assuming the remainder of 
the Ramshill development is not adopted by the CHA.  It is clearly desirable for the roads and 
footways on the whole development to be adopted as soon as possible. Hampshire County 
Council officers have confirmed it has always been the intention of the Highway Authority to 
adopt the roads within this estate, subject to compliance with Hampshire County Council 
standards for adoptable works and the submission of all relevant documentation by the 
developer.  

To that end, HCC has been closely liaising with the developer to progress adoption, including 
the inspection of the proposed highway works during construction.  The major delays, to date, 
have resulted from problems with the adoption of surface water sewers by Southern Water.  
The surface water sewer was finally adopted in June 2017 and the foul pumping station in 
October 2016.  There should now be no delay in the S38 adoption of the highway within the 
estate being progressed.

Whilst the council’s officers will continue to liaise with county council officers over the 
adoption of Skinner Farm Lane, the developer now needs to secure some private form of 
long-term maintenance for the route. 

Meetings between council officers and the developer continue to take place approximately 
every 6 weeks. 



Conclusion

The footpath link down Skinners Farm Lane has proven to be more difficult to provide than 
was envisaged at the application stage.  The compromise position reached in December 2009 
was not progressed by the developer and a BCN has been served to seek to secure the 
works.  The provision of the route is supported locally and negotiations are continuing to 
achieve that end.  

The matter of the works to the walls is a private matter between the developer and the 
adjoining landowners, but progress will continue to be monitored as part of compliance with 
the BCN.

Given that the developer is continuing to work closely with the Council to secure the footpath 
link, it is considered not expedient at this time to take further action at this time.  It is 
considered that a Court would very unlikely to find in the Council’s favour given that all sides 
continue to work towards a positive outcome.

A further report will be brought to this Committee in Autumn 2017, setting out what progress 
has been achieved in securing the provision of the route and whether any further action would 
be expedient at that time.

Recommendation

That the report be noted.




	Agenda
	 
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 49352/007/FUL/SAW - Land West of Bentley Industrial Centre, Main Road, Bentley, Farnham
	7.(ii) 24314/015/FUL/NP - 2 Somerset Villas, Mill Chase Road, Bordon, GU35 0EL
	7.(iii) 20283/011/FUL/RV - Maddocks Hill House, Maddocks Hill, Ropley, Alresford, SO24 0JA
	7.(iv) 27580/006/TPO/SG - Little Benifold, Headley Hill Road, Headley, Bordon, GU35 8DU
	8.(i) 35364/002/FUL/JM - Land to the north of, Ramshill, Petersfield, GU31 4AT

